STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

RECEIVED

09-04-2019

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 18 AP 1885 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

JUSTIN T. KANE,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

ON APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER ENTERED ON JULY 6, 2018, BY THE IOWA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MARGARET M. KOEHLER PRESIDING.

Respectfully submitted,

JUSTIN T. KANE, Defendant-Appellant

TRACEY WOOD & ASSOCIATES Attorneys for the Defendant One South Pinckney Street, Suite 950 Madison, Wisconsin 53703 (608) 661-6300

BY: TEUTA JONUZI State Bar No. 1098168 TRACEY A. WOOD State Bar No. 1020766

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. WHETHER THE STATE PROVIDED CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE THAT MR. KANE VOLUNTARILY CONSENTED TO AN EVIDENTIARY CHEMICAL TEST OF HIS BLOOD.
- II. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR WHEN IT HELD THAT THE WARRANTLESS ANALYSIS OF MR. KANE'S BLOOD, WHICH TOOK PLACE AFTER HE WITHDREW HIS CONSENT TO TESTING, VIOLATED HIS FOURTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO BE FREE FROM UNLAWFUL SEARCHES AND SEIZURES?

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Defendant-appellant does not request publication of the opinion in this appeal.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Oral argument would be appropriate in this case only if the Court concludes that the briefs have not fully presented the issues being raised on appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is an appeal from the trial court's denial of Mr. Kane's two motions, in which he moved to suppress the results of an evidentiary chemical analysis of his blood after an arrest for operating while under the influence of an intoxicant.¹

On October 24, 2017, Deputy Tom Clauer arrested Mr. Kane for operating while under the influence of an intoxicant ("OWI"). Deputy Clauer handcuffed Mr. Kane behind his back.² He placed Mr. Kane in the back of his squad car.³ Deputy Clauer informed Mr. Kane they would be filling out paperwork and then would go to the hospital.⁴ Still in the squad car, the deputy read the Informing the Accused form ("ITAF").⁵ Mr. Kane was still handcuffed behind his back, despite complaining of the handcuffs.⁶ After the deputy read Mr. Kane the ITAF, he asked Mr. Kane whether he would submit to a blood test.⁷ Mr. Kane's response was, "Under those circumstances, I don't believe I have a choice. Yes."⁸ That response sufficed for the

⁵ *Id*. at 6.

 7 *Id.* at 7.

¹ R.58 at 27; 30; R.47.

² R.58 at 8.

³ R.58 at 7.

⁴ R.58 at 16.

 $^{^{6}}$ *Id.* at 8.

⁸ R.58 at 11.

deputy. Deputy Clauer took Mr. Kane to the hospital, where his blood was drawn.⁹

On November 1, 2017, Mr. Kane sent a letter to the Wisconsin State Lab of Hygiene "revok[ing] any previous consent that he may have provided to the collection and analysis of his blood."¹⁰ On November 3, 2017, the lab received Mr. Kane's letter.¹¹ The Lab disregarded Mr. Kane's letter and analyzed the sample on November 8, 2017.¹² On November 9, 2017, the Lab issued a report, showing a blood alcohol concentration above the legal limit.¹³

On November 22, 2017, the Iowa County District Attorney's Office charged Mr. Kane with operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant and operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration, both as a third offense.¹⁴ Because the laboratory's analysis of his blood after he revoked consent was unlawful, Mr. Kane moved to suppress the test result.¹⁵ He also moved to suppress the test result because his consent to submit to the blood draw had not been voluntary.¹⁶

- ⁹ R.19.
- ¹⁰ R.18 at 5.
- ¹¹ *Id.* at 7.
- 12 *Id.* at 8.
- 13 Id.
- ¹⁴ R.5. ¹⁵ R.18.
- ¹⁶ R.19.

On March 29, 2018, the Honorable Margaret M. Koehler presided over an evidentiary hearing in both matters. At the hearing, Deputy Clauer testified that after arresting Mr. Kane, he was handcuffed. Mr. Kane complained of the handcuffs.¹⁷ The deputy stated he did not loosen the handcuffs because they would pinch an arrestee more that way.¹⁸ He testified he read the ITAF to Mr. Kane. Deputy Clauer testified that, after reading the form to Mr. Kane, he selected "Yes" on the form.¹⁹ Despite marking "Yes," the deputy acknowledged Mr. Kane's true response was something like, "I don't believe I have any choice, so yes."²⁰

With regard to the warrantless analysis of the blood testing matter, at the motion hearing, Mr. Kane entered several pieces of evidence into the record: Mr. Kane's letter revoking consent to blood testing, ²¹ a copy of the certified mail receipt, which demonstrates the Lab received Mr. Kane's letter revoking consent,²² and the Lab's alcohol analysis report, with testing completed on Mr. Kane's sample after he revoked consent.²³

- ¹⁷ R.58 at 5–6.
- 18 *Id*.
- 19 *Id.* at 7.
- ²⁰ *Id.* at 8. ²¹ *Id.* at 9–10.
- 22 *Id.* at 9–10 22 *Id.* at 10.
- 23 Id.

The circuit court denied Mr. Kane's two motions. With regard to the involuntary consent issue, the court found Mr. Kane did not acquiesce to the search or agree under duress but freely and voluntarily consented.²⁴ The court found several factors weighed in favor of the State: the fact the ITAF informed Mr. Kane he could refuse, Mr. Kane's two prior OWI convictions, and the nonthreatening and apparently congenial request for the blood test. ²⁵

In considering personal factors to Mr. Kane, the court noted he was 34 years old, and no facts presented demonstrated he was "physically, mentally, or emotionally challenged."²⁶ The court dismissed the facts surrounding the handcuffs and Mr. Kane's complaints, stating Mr. Kane only complained after the deputy read the ITAF, and that a person is almost always read the ITAF (i.e. asked to submit to an evidentiary test) when arrested.²⁷ Further, that person would almost always be in handcuffs after an OWI arrest.²⁸

In determining the warrantless analysis of blood claim, the court held Mr. Kane could not withdraw his consent to testing after initially giving it.²⁹ The court relied on *State v. Van Laarhoven*, as

²⁴ R.58 at 25.

²⁵ R.58 at 25–26.

²⁶ *Id.* at 26.

²⁷ *Id.* at 27.

²⁸ Id.

²⁹ *Id.* at 29.

well as *Snyder*, stating that the blood draw and subsequent analysis are one continuous event.³⁰ The court stated that once an arrestee gives consent and his blood is drawn, he cannot withdraw consent.³¹

On July 6, 2018, Mr. Kane entered a guilty plea to operating while under the influence of an intoxicant, third offense.³²

Mr. Kane now appeals the circuit court's order denying his two suppression motions.

ARGUMENT

Mr. Kane respectfully requests that this Court reverse the circuit court's decision denying his suppression motions.

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT INCORRECTLY DENIED MR. KANE'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS.

A. Standard of Review

Whether a search is valid under the Fourth Amendment is a question of constitutional law reviewed *de novo*.³³ Appellate courts uphold findings of historical facts unless they are clearly erroneous.³⁴

³⁰ *Id*.

³¹ *Id* ³² R.36.

³³ State v. Guzman, 166 Wis. 2d 577, 586, 48 N.W.2d 446 (1992).

³⁴ State v. Robinson, 2010 WI 80, ¶ 22, 327 Wis. 2d 302, 786 N.W.2d 463.

B. State v. Randall does not provide controlling precedent.

Since the time the State appealed this case, the Supreme Court accepted review in *State v. Randall*.³⁵ Very recently, the Court issued its decision.³⁶ The State has not addressed the Supreme Court decision; however, Mr. Kane concedes the decision impacts this case and that this Court is bound by the Wisconsin Supreme Court. The rationale of the Supreme Court, however, is unclear as there was no majority that agreed on the exact basis for reversing the *Randall* Court of Appeals decision. Mr. Kane still submits this brief to not waive any argument should there be further federal review in this matter.

In *State v. Randall*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court found that Ms. Randall could not withdraw previously given consent to her blood testing. More specifically, in *Randall*, the respondent, following her arrest for operating while impaired, attempted to revoke her consent to blood testing by letter to the Wisconsin State Hygiene Lab.³⁷

The decision does not provide a cohesive legal theory for analyzing the relevant legal claim. More specifically, the Court's decision was fractured. There was no agreement as to the legal basis

³⁵ State v. Randall, 2018 WI 107, 384 Wis. 2d 772, 921 N.W.2d 509.

³⁶ Randall, 2019 WI 80, 387 Wis. 2d 774, 930 N.W.2d 223.

³⁷ *Randall*, 2019 WI 80, ¶ 3.

upon which Ms. Randall's consent could not be withdrawn. Where a decision is fractured, its precedential value is curtailed.³⁸

The lead opinion, authored by Justice Kelley, relies on the legal theories of a reduced privacy interest incident to an arrest.³⁹ No party argued such a theory in briefing or oral argument.⁴⁰ Moreover, the cases the lead opinion relies upon are cases where there was a concern for the destruction of evidence or police safety.

The concurring opinion, authorized by Justice Roggensack, concludes the respondent-defendant had no privacy interest in the alcohol concentration in her blood. The lead opinion found this "troubling."⁴¹ In fact, the lead opinion repeats many of the same concerns outlined by Ms. Randall: What prohibits the State from testing a non-arrestee's blood for substances out of curiosity?⁴² What prohibits the State from testing any sample drawn for medical purposes?⁴³ According to the lead opinion, the concurrence's reasoning "has no bounds."⁴⁴

³⁸ See State v. Elam, 195 Wis. 2d 683, 685, 538 N.W.2d 249 (1995) ("a majority of the participating judges must have agreed on a particular point for it to be considered the opinion of the court.").

³⁹ *Randall*, 2019 WI 80, ¶ 20.

⁴⁰ *Randall*, 2019 WI 80, ¶ 67 (Roggensack, J., concurring).

⁴¹ *Randall*, 2019 WI 80, ¶ 37.

⁴² *Id*.

⁴³ *Id*.

⁴⁴ *Id*.

Here, it would be difficult to extrapolate any law from *Randall* other than that Ms. Randall's suppression order was reversed upon the facts of that case. A fractured decision provides little guidance to lower courts on the law. As noted above, there was no consensus on the legal reasoning of the Court or the doctrines it employed. It is therefore incorrect to fully rely on *Randall* here.

Moreover, even if this Court were to find that the *Randall* decision was a cohesive decision, the facts here are distinguishable. First, though both Ms. Randall and Mr. Kane were asked whether they would submit to a blood test, on the night in question, Mr. Kane did not readily agree to the blood test as Ms. Randall did. On the night of his arrest, Mr. Kane actually told the officer he did not feel he had a choice in whether to submit to the blood test.⁴⁵ These facts indicate Mr. Kane did not wish to submit to the evidentiary test. This was in contrast to the clear, unequivocal original consent given in the *Randall* case.⁴⁶

⁴⁵ R.58 at 11–12.

⁴⁶ *Randall*, 2019 WI 80, ¶ 2.

C. A person has a legitimate privacy interest in the information contained in a sample of his blood.

A staggering amount of personal information can be acquired by the analysis of a sample of blood. The presence of alcohol, drugs, or other chemicals can be detected; as well as genetic information about ancestry, family connections, medical conditions, pregnancy, and profiles suitable for identification purposes. For these reasons, the United States Supreme Court has recognized that the chemical analysis of a blood sample is an invasion of an individual's privacy.⁴⁷

The United States Supreme Court has consistently recognized an expectation of privacy in the information contained within biological samples—a privacy interest distinct from the collection of the samples in the first place. In the 1989 case *Skinner v. Railway*

Labor Executives' Association, the Court explained:

[I]t is obvious that this physical intrusion, penetrating beneath the skin, infringes an expectation of privacy that society is prepared to recognize as reasonable. The ensuing chemical analysis of the sample to obtain physiological data is a further invasion of ... privacy interests.⁴⁸

In 2001, the United States Supreme Court decided the case of *Ferguson v. City of Charleston*, where warrantless drug testing was conducted on lawfully-obtained urine samples.⁴⁹ Despite the

⁴⁷ Skinner v. Ry. Labor Executives' Ass'n, 489 U.S. 602, 616 (1989).

⁴⁸ *Skinner*, 489 U.S. 602, 616 (1989).

⁴⁹ Ferguson v. City of Charleston, 532 U.S. 67, 73 (2001).

collection of the urine itself being lawful, the Court, citing to *Skinner*, held that "[T]he urine tests ... were *indisputably* searches within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment."⁵⁰

In *Birchfield v. North Dakota*,⁵¹ the Supreme Court commented on the information contained in a blood sample, as distinct from a breath sample:

[A] blood test, unlike a breath test, places in the hands of law enforcement authorities a sample that can be preserved and from which it is possible to extract information beyond a simple BAC reading. Even if the law enforcement agency is precluded from testing the blood for any purpose other than to measure BAC, the potential remains and may result in anxiety for the person tested.⁵²

The caselaw is unambiguous that individuals have a legitimate and

recognized privacy interest in the information contained in their own

blood. The Randall lead opinion recognized the inherent privacy

interest in blood, stating:

The similarities between a smart phone and a blood sample in terms of the amount of information they each contain, and the personal nature of that information, are such that we must pay particular attention to what the Supreme Court said about the State's access to it.⁵³

⁵⁰ *Id.* at 76 (emphasis supplied).

⁵¹ 136 S. Ct. 2160 (2016).

⁵² *Id.* at 2178.

⁵³ *Randall*, 2019 WI 80, ¶ 34.

Here, the Court referenced *Riley v. California*.⁵⁴ In *Riley v. California*, the United States Supreme Court addressed the applicability of the warrant requirement to cell phone searches.⁵⁵ Of course, a blood sample analysis and a cell phone search are not exactly alike. Both a cell phone and a blood sample have vast amounts of unanalyzed personal information contained within.

The question in *Riley* was whether police could analyze the contents of a lawfully-seized cell phone under the Fourth Amendment.⁵⁶ The Court recognized that a huge amount of personal information could be stored on or accessed through a cell phone, including information implicating significant privacy concerns, such as medical records.⁵⁷ The Court ultimately decided:

[A] warrant is generally required before such a search, even when a cell phone is seized incident to arrest ... Our answer to the question of what police must do before searching a cell phone seized incident to an arrest is accordingly simple—get a warrant.⁵⁸

Analyzing a blood sample, like searching a cell phone, potentially presents privacy implications sufficient to require police to obtain a warrant or a warrant exception to search these items. It is irrelevant that *Riley* involved a search incident to arrest and Ms.

⁵⁴ *Riley v. California*, 134 S. Ct. 2473 (2014).

⁵⁵ *Riley v. California*, 134 S. Ct. 2473 (2014).

⁵⁶ *Riley*, 134 S. Ct. at 2480.

⁵⁷ *Id*. at 2490.

⁵⁸ *Id.* at 2493, 2495.

Randall initially consented to the analysis of her blood. The foundational legal principle is identical: Even though a piece of evidence is already in police custody, when there is no legal basis for a search, the search is unlawful. Because the government had no legal justification for the blood analysis after Ms. Randall withdrew her consent, it was an unlawful search, and the test results were suppressed.

The State cited to *State v. VanLaarhoven* and *State v. Riedel* to argue that analyzing the blood sample at issue did not require an independent legal justification.⁵⁹ Yet *VanLaarhoven* does not control here. In *VanLaarhoven*, the Wisconsin Court of Appeals held that no warrant was necessary to analyze the defendant's blood where the police relied upon the defendant's *unretracted* consent to the search.⁶⁰

Neither *VanLaarhoven* nor *Riedel* apply to the facts of Mr. Kane's case. Because he purportedly consented to the analysis of his blood but then promptly withdrew it, Mr. Kane did not suggest to the trial court, as in *VanLaarhoven* and *Riedel*, that a warrant was required to analyze his blood *notwithstanding* his consent. The point is that the original justification for the seizure *and* analysis of the

⁵⁹ R.58 at 13; *VanLaarhoven*, 2001 WI App 275, 248 Wis. 2d 881, 637 N.W. 2d 411; *Riedel*, 2003 WI App 18, 259 Wis. 2d 921, 929, 656 N.W.2d 789 (internal citations and punctuation omitted).

⁶⁰ *VanLaarhoven*, 2001 WI App 27, ¶ 17.

blood—his consent—ceased to exist. Without the existence of valid consent, the search should have promptly ceased.

D. The implied consent law does not affect the analysis here.

The police can ask for consent to search without a specific statutory scheme. Citizens can give, refuse, modify, or withdraw consent without such a statutory scheme. The implied consent law was designed to facilitate the collection of evidence by allowing the State to penalize drivers who do not provide consent.⁶¹ It permits the State to penalize a driver who refuses to consent, but it does not directly create or compel consent.

While the government does possess an interest in keeping public highways safe, citizens also possess a right to be free from unreasonable searches. There is no need for these rights to conflict with one another. Police have many methods at their disposal for the collection of evidence in criminal cases. Each method has its potential benefits and potential drawbacks. The benefit of relying on consent is that it can save police the small amount of work that would be required to obtain a warrant prior to a blood draw. One drawback from the

⁶¹ *Cf. State v. Gibson*, 2001 WI App 71, ¶ 7, 242 Wis. 2d 267, 626 N.W.2d 73; *State v. Padley*, 2014 WI App 65, ¶¶ 26–27, 354 Wis. 2d 545, 849 N.W.2d 867; *State v. Brar*, 2017 WI 73, ¶¶ 44–86, 376 Wis. 2d 685, 898 N.W.2d 499 (Kelly, J., concurring).

government's point of view is that relying solely on consent brings the blood analysis process under the umbrella of Fourth-Amendment caselaw concerning voluntary consent—including the wellrecognized right to modify or revoke consent at any time.⁶²

E. A person may withdraw his consent to the testing of his blood at any point before that search is complete.

"One who consents to a search 'may of course delimit as he chooses the scope of the search to which he consents."⁶³ When consent, previously given, is modified, limited, or withdrawn, this must be done by an unequivocal act or statement.⁶⁴ "Withdrawal of consent need not be effectuated through particular 'magic words,' but an intent to withdraw consent must be made by unequivocal act or statement."⁶⁵

There is no reason why the search of a blood sample should be treated as categorically different than the search of a cell phone, an automobile, or a dwelling. Consent to an evidentiary chemical blood analysis may be withdrawn, just as one may withdraw consent to any

⁶² State v. Wantland, 355 Wis. 2d 135, 152, 848 N.W.2d 810 (2014).

⁶³ State v. Matejka, 2001 WI 5, ¶ 37, 241 Wis.2d 52, 621 N.W.2d 891 (quoting Florida v. Jimeno, 500 U.S. 248, 252 (1991)).

⁶⁴ *Wantland*, 355 Wis. 2d 135, 152, 848 N.W.2d 810 (2014).

⁶⁵ United States v. Sanders, 424 F.3d 768, 774 (8th Cir. 2005) (quoting United States v. Gray, 369 F.3d 1024, 1026 (8th Cir. 2004)); see also United States v. Alfaro, 935 F.2d 64, 67 (5th Cir. 1991); Payton v. Commonwealth, 327 S.W.3d 468, 478 (Ky. 2010).

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