RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

10-04-2019

COURT OF APPEALS

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 18 AP 1885-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JUSTIN T. KANE,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER ENTERED
ON JULY 6, 2018 BY THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR IOWA COUNTY,
THE HONORABLE MARGARET M. KOEHLER, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Respectfully submitted,

STATE OF WISCONSIN, Plaintiff-Respondent

IOWA COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY
Attorneys for the Plaintiff
222 North Iowa Street
Dodgeville, Wisconsin 53533
(608) 935-2377

BY: CURTIS E. JOHNSON
ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY
State Bar No. 1053728

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. WHETHER THE STATE PROVIDED SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE OF DEFENDANT'S VOLUNTARY CONSENT TO AN EVIDENTIARY CHEMICAL TEST OF HIS BLOOD.
- II. WHETHER THE DEFENDANT COULD WITHDRAW HIS VOLUNTARY CONSENT TO AN EVIDENTIARY CHEMICAL TEST OF HIS BLOOD AFTER THE BLOOD DRAW BUT BEFORE IT WAS TESTED.
- III. IF EXCLUSION OF EVIDENCE IS APPROPRIATE, WHETHER THERE ARE FACTS SUFFICIENT TO FIND AN EXCEPTION TO THE EXCLUSION UNDER THE INEVITABLE DISCOVERY DOCTRINE.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Plaintiff-respondent does not request publication of the opinion in this appeal.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Oral argument in this case would be appropriate only if the Court of Appeals determines the submitted briefs fail to fully present the issues being raised on appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Pursuant to Wisconsin Statute section 809.81(3)(a)(2) the respondent-plaintiff concurs with the recited Statement of the Case and Facts provided by the appellant-defendant.

The State respondent-plaintiff ("the State") respectfully requests that the Court affirm the decision of the Iowa County Circuit Court to deny the appellant-defendant's ("Kane's") suppression motions for the reasons set forth herein. The State's arguments are presented reversed to those presented in Kane's brief to follow the chronological flow of the issues as they arose.

- I. THE STATE PROVIDED SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO ESTABLISH DEFENDANT'S CONSENT WAS VOLUNTARY
 - a. Standard of Review

The State agrees with Kane's statement as to the proper standards of review for issues of fact and law.

b. The defendant consented to the testing of his sample of blood.

Kane's main argument in support of its contention that the State failed to meet its evidentiary burden is that Kane stated something to the effect of "I don't believe I have any choice, so yes" with his objectively affirmative response to the requested sample test. The statement is insufficient to overcome the totality of evidence presented by the State evidencing consent.

Kane contends the statement establishes evidence of acquiescence rather than voluntary consent. This argument is inconsistent with Wisconsin law.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court in *State v. Brar* affirmed acquiescence "causes Fourth Amendment problems when the acquiescence is made to claimed lawful authority to search, when no such lawful authority exists." For acquiescence to occur, the arresting officer would have to make as assertion of lawful authority that did not exist.²

In *Brar*, the defendant-appellant ("Brar") appealed the decision of the court of appeals affirming the circuit court's denial of Brar's motion to suppress blood test evidence.³ Brar argued in his suppression motion that the results of his blood test constituted an illegal search as he did not provide consent.⁴ Without consent, Brar argued, the arresting officer was required to obtain a search warrant.⁵

As in the present matter, the arresting officer in **Brar** appropriately read the Informing the Accused Form ("ITAF") after obtaining probable cause that Brar operated a motor vehicle while intoxicated. Brar interrupted the officer

¹ State v. Brar, 2017 WI 73, ¶ 40, 376 Wis. 2d 685, 898 N.W.2d 499 (citing State v. Johnson, 2007 WI 32, ¶ 69, Bumper v. North Carolina, 391 U.S. at 548-49, 88 S.Ct. 1788).

² Id. at ¶ 40 (Roggensack, J., dissenting) (referencing Bumper, 391 U.S. at 548, 88 S.Ct. 1788 (Issue of whether search is justified when consent was given only after officer claimed possession of a search warrant.)).

 $^{^{3}}$ *Id*. at ¶ 1.

⁴ **Id.** at ¶ 2.

⁵ *Id*. at ¶ 2.

⁶ *Id*. at ¶ 3.

numerous times during the reading of the form with questions or comments relating to the form. The Brar also continued to ask questions after giving consent to the blood draw.

The questions Brar asked after granting consent included inquiring as to the kind test would be administered and if the officer needed a warrant for the draw. To the first question, the officer stated he would conduct a blood draw. To the second, the officer shook his head in the negative.

Blood was then drawn and the results showed a BAC of $0.186.^{12}$ Brar moved to suppress the evidence and the circuit court then held a hearing. 13

In addressing Brar's motion to suppress, the circuit court found that Brar responded to the officer's blood draw request by saying "of course" followed then by something to the effect of "I do not want my license revocated". Brar, as with the defendant in this case, gave an additional statement beyond simple affirmation of consent.

⁷ Brar, 2017 WI 73, \P 5.

⁸ *Id*. at ¶ 6.

⁹ Id.

¹⁰ Id.

¹¹ Id.

¹² **Id.** at ¶ 7.

¹³ **Id.** at ¶ 8.

¹⁴ *Id*. at ¶¶ 31, 32.

The court of appeals noted that Brar consented to the blood draw pursuant to Wisconsin's implied consent law. 15 The Court noted that "[a]n individual's consent given by virtue of driving on Wisconsin's roads... is one incarnation of consent by conduct. "16 Consent can be inferred or expressed, and the Brar Court noted that consent can be inferred from context. 17 The "context" Brar references refers to an individual operating on roads in states that have adopted implied consent law. 18

The State met its initial burden of consent to search because Kane operated a motor vehicle on a Wisconsin highway subject to Wisconsin's implied consent law. "Therefore, lest there be any doubt, consent by conduct or implication is constitutionally sufficient consent under the Fourth Amendment." 19

The State acknowledges that consent is not voluntary if it is "no more than acquiescence to a claim of lawful authority.²⁰ However, despite Kane's reliance upon his statements that supplemented his affirmation to the draw,

¹⁵ Brar, 2017 WI 73, ¶ 29.

¹⁶ *Id.* at ¶ 21 (referencing Wis. Stat. s. 343.305(2)).

¹⁷ Id. at \P 22 (referencing Birchfield v. North Dakota, 136

S.Ct. 2160, 2185, 195 L.Ed.2d 560 (2016)).

¹⁸ **Id.** at ¶ 22.

¹⁹ **Id.** at ¶ 23.

²⁰ **Id.** at ¶ 32.

"[t]here is no single fact, the absence or presence of which, determines whether consent was voluntarily given."²¹ Instead, the analysis relies upon a review of the totality of the circumstance.²²

The Iowa County Circuit Court correctly cited State v. Van Laarhoven, 248 Wis. 2d 881, when it found that the defendant gave implied voluntary consent to the blood draw "when he chose to drive on Wisconsin roads." ²³ Further, Kane's statement "I don't believe I have a choice. Yes." reaffirms his voluntary consent just as Brar's statement of "Of course. I do not want my license revocated." did.²⁴

Again, consent to draw was given when Kane drove his vehicle on Wisconsin roads. Kane's response to the ITAF did not act as a revocation, but instead affirmed his consent.

The State established, under the totality of the circumstances test, that Kane's continued consent to the draw was voluntary through its collection. Kane was read the ITAF verbatim after being taken into custody. The ITAF language is codified under Wis. Stat. s. 343.305(4), and Kane was accordingly "informed of his opportunity to withdraw consent

²¹ Brar, 2017 WI 73 at \P 25 (referencing Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 226 (1973)).

²² **Id.** ¶ 25 (referencing **Schneckloth**, 412 U.S. at 223).

²³ *Id*. at ¶ 35.

 $^{^{24}}$ **Id.** at ¶ 35.

²⁵ R.58 at 6.

to a blood draw when the officer read him the Informing the $\mbox{Accused Form.}^{\prime\prime\,26}$

The Iowa County Circuit Court found Kane was an adult with no physical, emotional, or mental challenges.²⁷ Kane was cuffed per usual in arrest situations, and the dialogue between Kane and the officer was cordial and nonthreatening.²⁸ Kane also had two previous OWIs, so he was experienced in arrest and chemical test procedures.²⁹ Kane complained about the tightness of the handcuffs, but that occurred only after he was read the ITAF.³⁰

In noting Kane's statement about the handcuffs, the officer testified that if he were to loosen the cuffs, it would cause Kane's wrists to rotate and pinch him even worse. 31 Loosening the cuffs would have made it more painful. 32

Kane argues that the Court's analysis regarding acquiescence should focus on his statement. The Court needs to turn the lens and look at whether Kane's continued consent was "overborne" by the arresting officer. 33 It is not illegal, or even bad practice, for an officer to inform a person what

 $^{^{26}}$ **Brar** at ¶ 39.

²⁷ R.58 at 26.

²⁸ R.58 at 25, 27.

²⁹ R.58 at 25-26.

³⁰ R.58 at 27.

³¹ R.58 at 5-6.

³² R.58 at 6.

³³ Brar at ¶ 39 (referencing Schneckloth, 412 U.S. at 226).

is going to happen if the person makes a decision so long as the officer is telling the truth.³⁴ "While police cannot use deceit or trickery, they are entitled to make true statements."³⁵ The totality of the evidence presented at the motion hearing establishes that the officer was not being deceptive or conducting otherwise bad practice. Therefore, not only did Kane not overtly withdraw consent after hearing the ITAF read to him, he maintained his consent to the blood draw and did not acquiesce to legal authority.

Accordingly, based upon the findings of the Court, and the law recited by the State at the Motion hearing and as supplemented by this brief, the Court respectfully requests that the Court affirm the circuit court's decision to deny Kane's motions.

II. THE DEFENDANT COULD NOT WITHDRAW CONSENT TO TEST HIS BLOOD SAMPLE BECAUSE THE SEARCH ENDED WHEN THE STATE COMPLETED THE BLOOD DRAW

a. Standard of Review

The State agrees with Kane's statement as to the proper standards of review for issues regarding the circuit court's legal conclusions and findings on voluntary consent before the Court of Appeals.

 $^{^{34}}$ Village of Little Chute v. Walitalo, 2002 WI App 211, \P 11, 256 Wis. 2d 1032, 650 N.W.2d 891. 35 Id. at \P 11.

b. State v. Randall holds the blood test is irrelevant for $4^{\rm th}$ Amendment considerations, making the purported written withdrawal of consent moot.

Review of this file's record demonstrates the weight the anticipated decision in *Randall* would bear given the similarity of issues between the two matters. *Randall* overruled the Court of Appeals' affirmation of the Dane County Circuit Court's suppression of blood evidence after a similar purported withdraw of consent.³⁶ Kane asserts *Randall* is not binding law.

Concurring and lead opinions may be combined to reach a majority holding on an issue. "When a fragmented Court decides a case and no single rationale explaining the results enjoys the assent of the five [United States Supreme Court] justices, 'the holding of the Court made be viewed as that position taken by those Members who concurred in the judgments on the narrowest grounds....'"37

Wisconsin recognizes the same authority for courts to recognize concurring opinions when reaching a majority

³⁶ State v. Randall, 2019 WI 80, \P 39, 387 Wis. 2d 774, 930 N.W.2d 223.

³⁷ Marks v. United States, 430 U.S. 188, 193 (1977) (citing Gregg v. Georgia, 428 U.S. 153, 169 n. 15, 96 S.Ct. 2909, 2923, 49 L.Ed.2d 859 (1976) (opinion of Stewart, Powell, and Stevens, JJ.)).

decision on a particular point.³⁸ "A fractured opinion mandates a specific result when the parties are in a 'substantially identical position.'"³⁹ Finding a legal opinion of the majority is not required; only an legal standard that, when applied, would produce a result of which the majority of justices would agree.⁴⁰

The Randall lead decision, achieved with the aid of Chief Justice Roggensack's concurrence, was not fractured as to the 4th Amendment implications regarding delayed withdrawn consent. The difference between the lead opinion and the concurrence involved Ms. Randall's privacy interests, not the 4th Amendment considerations of the late consent withdrawal.41

For the reasons explained above, Ms. Randall lost her privacy interests in the alcohol and drug concentration in her blood when she was arrested for intoxicated driving. The concurrence, for some unexplained reason, says she never had such an interest. That is an assertion too broad, too unbound, to be accepted.⁴²

³⁸ State v. Dowe, 120 Wis. 2d 192, 194 (1984) (referencing Grantham Transfer Co. v. Hawes, 225 Ga. 436, 169 S.E.2d 290 (1969); Primus v. Clark, 58 N.M. 588, 273 P.2d 963 (1954); 21 C.J.S. Courts section 184 (1940)).

³⁹ State v. Deadwiller, 2013 WI 75, ¶ 30, 350 Wis. 2d 138 (citing Berwind Corp. v. Comm'r of Soc. Sec., 307 F.3d 222, 234 (3d Cir. 2002)).

 $^{^{40}}$ Id., at ¶ 30 (citing People v. Dungo, 55 Cal.4th 608, 147 Cal.Rptr.3d 527, 286 P.3d 442, 455 (2012)(Chin, J., concurring)).

⁴¹ Randall, 2019 WI 80, ¶ 38.

 $^{^{42}}$ *Id.* at ¶ 38.

The lead opinion in *Randall* stated that the search ended "when the State completed the blood draw".⁴³ Because the search ended with the blood draw, the defendant had no privacy interest in the amount of alcohol in his blood.⁴⁴ With no privacy interest comes no legally-significant search.⁴⁵ The defendant's consent was not necessary once the blood was drawn, which nullifies the impact of the defendant's revoked consent.⁴⁶

The concurring opinion in **Randall** makes an identical finding:

[O]nce the search of the motorist's body has been conducted by lawfully drawing a blood sample, the subsequent testing of the evidence seized to determine its alcohol concentration has no further Fourth Amendment implications. This is so because there is no reasonable expectation of privacy in the alcohol concentration of a blood sample that has been voluntarily submitted to police for a blood alcohol testing.⁴⁷

In reflecting upon the concurrence regarding the single-search issue, Justice Kelly states in Footnote 14 of his lead opinion that his and Justice Roggensack's opinions on this issue are "really just two ways of saying the same thing." 48 Contrary to Kane's argument, Justice Kelly acknowledges what

⁴³ Randall at \P 39.

⁴⁴ Id.

⁴⁵ Id.

⁴⁶ Id.

⁴⁷ *Id*. at ¶ 55.

⁴⁸ *Id.* at ¶ 39, n. 14.

the findings of the lead opinion and Chief Justice Roggensack's concurrence come to the same conclusion under identical rationale: there was one search, which ended with the draw, and the defendant could therefore not withdraw consent once that search ended.⁴⁹

Both opinions would agree that Kane was too late in his written withdraw of consent for the same reason: he no longer had a privacy interest in the blood sample.

Given the lead opinion and concurrence agree that the blood test was not a subsequent search subject to 4th Amendment protections, *Randall* should be read as providing binding precedent upon the lower appellate courts on this issue.

Accordingly, the Court of Appeals should affirm the decision of the Iowa County Circuit Court to deny Kane's motion to suppress.

III. IN THE ALTERNATIVE, THE EXCLUSIONARY RULE IS INAPPLICABLE UNDER THE INEVITABLE DISCOVERY DOCTRINE

a. Standard of Review

The court is to accept the circuit court's factual findings unless those findings are clearly erroneous. 50

⁴⁹ Randall at \P 55.

⁵⁰ State v. Jackson, 2016 WI 56, ¶ 45, 369 Wis. 2d 673, 882
N.W.2d 422 (citing State v. Dearborn, 2010 WI 84, ¶ 13, 327
Wis. 2d 252, 786 N.W.2d 97 (internal citation omitted)).

Application of those facts to constitutional principles is an issue of law that the court reviews *de novo*. 51

b. Factual Findings by the Circuit Court are Sufficient to Apply the Inevitable Discovery Doctrine

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